COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CECIL DUDGEON, PRO SE,

Appellant, v. STEVE BOYER, SHERIFF OF KITSAP COUNTY,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

CECIL DUDGEON 4381 STATE HIWAY 3W APT #10 BREMERTON, WA 98312 Telephone: (360) 912-4382

A. Introduction

Cecil Dudgeon, an 80 year old man, now asks this Court to review the decision by the Kitsap County Superior Court to dismiss, under CR 12(b)(6), Mr. Dudgeon's Petition for Writ of Certiorari, filed with that court in accordance with RCW 7.16.040 and established Washington State case law. CP 2,3.

Standard of Review

These proceedings require interpretation of the 1990 Community Protection Act and of RCW 7.16.040 as applied to risk level classification challenges. Interpretation of state statutes and of the Community Protection Act is a question of law. Questions of law are reviewed *de novo. State. V. Keller*, 143 Wn. 2d 267, 276, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001); *State v. Jacobs*, 154 Wn. 2d 596, 600, 115 P.3d 281 (2005) ("the court's objective is to determine the legislature's intent.").

B. Assignments of Errors

Assignments of Errors

- The Superior Court erred when it dismissed Appellant Dudgeon's Petition For Writ of Certiorari pursuant to CR 12(b)(6).
- The Superior Court erred in not considering whether the factual determination made by the Kitsap County Sheriff's representative in

classifying Mr. Dudgeon as a level III risk to offend was based on material fact justified as such by substantial evidence.

- 3. The Superior Court erred in not correcting the erroneous decision by the Sheriff's representative by rendering the judgment which should have been rendered by that inferior official in consideration of the substantial evidence supporting Mr. Dudgeon's classification as a level I risk potential.
- 4. The Superior Court's dismissal of Mr. Dudgeon's Petition makes possible the continuation of the egregious detriment to Mr. Dudgeon's fundamental right to the pursuit of happiness and to the protection of his life and property guaranteed under the 5th and 14th Amendments.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Errors

 Mr. Dudgeon was released from the Washington State Special Commitment Center, SCC, on February 12, 2013 (CP 4, 19) following an evaluation by the State's expert, Dr. Amy Phenix, who concluded that Mr. Dudgeon did not meet commitment criteria and was a low risk to offend. CP 3, 4.
Immediately upon his unconditional release from the SCC, Mr. Dudgeon met with the Kitsap County Sheriff's Community Sex Offender Registration Officer, Sheriff's Detective Doug Dillard, to register as one who had been convicted of a sex offense, as required by law. RCW 9A.44.130. Mr. Dudgeon proffered considerable substantial evidence to Detective Dillard which supported Mr. Dudgeon's claim that he should be classified as a level I risk potential (CP 4, 9, 12, 23-55, 60-64), all of which Detective Dillard refused to review stating that the Department of Corrections End of Sentence Review Committee, ESRC, had already classified Mr. Dudgeon as a level III (CP 4, 6, 7, 74, 80, 81, RP 5, 6) and as far as he, Dillard, was concerned that would be Mr. Dudgeon's classification from then on. On subsequent meetings with Detective Dillard, Mr. Dudgeon again asked him to reconsider his arbitrary classification of Mr. Dudgeon as a level III and to review the information and documents Mr. Dudgeon proffered supporting Mr. Dudgeon's classification as a level I. Detective Dillard's response was the same as during their initial meeting, *supra*.

This failure by the Sheriff's representative to exercise any discerning discretion in making his stated decision to base his classification solely – and from that point on – on the stale information of questionable validity (*infra*) contained in the 8 plus year old ESRC classification evaluation and to not consider the substantial material facts (CP 4, 9, 12, 23-55, 60-64.) supporting Mr. Dudgeon's claim justifying his classification as level I risk, precludes Mr. Dudgeon from any hope of ever having his risk level

classification changed by that agency no matter the justification offered in support, and render that classification decision to be an erroneous decision.

As a result of Detective Dillard's arbitrary actions noted above, Mr. Dudgeon filed his Petition For Writ of Certiorari in the Kitsap County Superior Court in accordance with RCW 7.16.040 and the established case law.

Whether the Superior Court erred in dismissing Mr. Dudgeon's Petition For Writ of Certiorari pursuant to CR 12(b)(6)? (Assignments of Errors 1).

2. The initial classification of Mr. Dudgeon as a level III risk potential was made by the Washington State Department of Corrections End of Sentence Review Committee, ESRC, and was over 8 years old at the time of Mr. Dudgeon's first meeting with Detective Dillard on February 12, 2013. CP 4, 6, 7, 74, 80, 81, RP 5, 6. This stale and questionable evaluation was thoroughly examined in an in-depth forensic psychological evaluation conducted by Dr. Richard Wollert, an eminently qualified expert in the relevant scientific field, in January of 2013. Dr. Wollert assessed the opinions expressed by the state employee preparing the ESRC evaluation – a non psychologist – as well as the raw data upon which those opinions were

based. Dr. Wollert's findings completely discredited that evaluation and classification. CP 60-64.

Yet it was this stale and questionable evaluation that was the stated sole basis for Detective Dillard's arbitrary classification of Mr. Dudgeon as a level III risk potential, making possible the impairment of Mr. Dudgeon's fundamental right to the pursuit of happiness and to the protection of life and property as guaranteed under the 5th and 14th Amendments. CP 5, 6, 12, 13, 77-79.

Whether the Superior Court erred in not assuring that the determination of fact claimed by the Sheriff's representative in classifying Mr. Dudgeon as a level III risk potential was based on substantial evidence. (Assignments of Errors 1, 2, 3, 4).

3. RCW 7.16.040 and the relevant case law authorize the Superior Court to "...correct any erroneous or void proceeding.... and there is no appeal, nor in the judgment of the court, any plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law.", to "...change the classification.", and includes "...rendering the judgment that should have been rendered by lower tribunal.".

The Sheriff's representative, Detective Dillard, had repeated opportunity to review the ample substantial current evidence proffered by

Mr. Dudgeon which supported Mr. Dudgeon's contention that he should be classified no higher than a level I risk potential. CP 4, 9, 12, 23-55, 60-64. Detective Dillard refused to review the material facts Mr. Dudgeon provided, instead stating he was adopting the classification assigned by the ESRC. This classification was based on neither current nor, in large part, even factual information. CP 60-64. This reliance on that sole questionable evaluation in classifying Mr. Dudgeon at the unjustified and grievously injurious highest possible risk level greatly impairs Mr. Dudgeon's rights to the pursuit of happiness and to the protection of his life and property as guaranteed under the 5th and 14th Amendments. CP 5, 6, 12, 13, 77-79.

Whether the Superior Court erred in not assuring that the determination of fact made by the inferior official in classifying Mr. Dudgeon as a level III risk potential was based on substantial evidence, and in not reviewing the overwhelming substantial evidence provided by Mr. Dudgeon in support of his being classified as level I and then rendering the decision that should have been rendered by the inferior official.

(Assignments of Errors 1, 2, 3, 4).

C. Statement of the Case

Mr. Dudgeon, an 80 year old man, was released from the Washington State Special Commitment Center, SCC, on February 12, 2013 (CP 4, 19) following an evaluation by the State's expert, Dr. Amy Phenix, who concluded that Mr. Dudgeon did not meet commitment criteria and was considered to be a low risk to offend. CP 3, 4. Immediately upon his unconditional release from the SCC Mr. Dudgeon reported to local law enforcement, the Kitsap County Sheriff's Department, as required by law, RCW 9A.44.130, to register as one who had been convicted of a sex offense. Mr. Dudgeon met with the Community Sex Offender Registration Officer, Sheriff's Detective Doug Dillard, and proffered documents and information providing substantial evidence which supported Mr. Dudgeon's claim that he should be classified as a level I risk potential. CP 4, 9, 12, 23-55, 60-64. Detective Dillard refused to consider any of the material Mr. Dudgeon offered stating that Mr. Dudgeon had already been classified as a level III and as far as he, Dillard, was concerned Mr. Dudgeon would remain so from then on. CP 4, 6, 7, 74, 80, 81, RP 5, 6.

The ESRC classification of Mr. Dudgeon as a risk level III was made in early 2005, which classification is a *de facto* prerequisite to being considered for petitioning under RCW 71.09. That classification, as discussed earlier, was fraught with issues and was based on the completion, by the chair person of the ESRC, of a Washington Sex Offender Risk Level document, the WA SORL¹, which document, as it applied to Mr. Dudgeon, was thoroughly discredited by Dr. Richard Wollert, both the distorted and in some parts totally false data the chairperson included in the form, and the opinions she expressed based on that concocted data. CP 7, 8, 60-64.

The intransigent insistence on the part of Detective Dillard to refuse to exercise any discerning discretion and review other evidence of a current substantial nature pertinent to Mr. Dudgeon's risk level classification and to rely solely, as Detective Dillard stated, on the 8 plus year old professionally discredited ESRC evaluation and classification, forced Mr. Dudgeon to make the Hobson's choice of living separately from his wife in order to protect Mrs. Dudgeon from the obloquy, harassment and potential physical – possible even deadly – assault that could ensue as a result of Mr. Dudgeon living at home while classified as a level III or a level II sex offender. CP 5, 6, 13, 76. The stark truth of this statement is borne out by the recent unprovoked murder of two individuals classified as level II sex offenders and who were living in the Sequim, WA area, the area of Mr. Dudgeon's home. CP 6, 76, 77.

¹ Use of the WA SORL form itself has been discontinued by the state.

Although living separately in the present circumstances inflicts significant financial and psychological burden on the Dudgeons, it is the lesser of two evils and can be mitigated only when Mr. Dudgeon is able to return home having been more appropriately classified as a risk level I.

Mr. Dudgeon has resided alone in Kitsap County for over a year, visiting his wife in Sequim as frequently as permitted under DOC guidelines and traveling to other parts of the state to visit other family members or on medical appointments.

In early March of this year the DOC Community Corrections Officer, CCO, who supervised Mr. Dudgeon's community placement in Kitsap County wrote a summary of Mr. Dudgeon's actions under her supervision, mailing it directly to the Superior Court. In it the CCO stated that Mr. Dudgeon was in compliance with all DOC supervision requirements, that he had passed all his testing, paid all his financial obligations and was rated as "LOW", which is the DOC categorization of minimal risk to offend. CP 65, 66. It should be noted that this rating by the CCO was based on a year's personal face-to-face evaluation of Mr. Dudgeon's performance made by a branch of the same agency, the DOC, where a different branch, the ESRC, rated Mr. Dudgeon at the highest category of risk to offend and renewed that same rating upon Mr. Dudgeon's release from the SCC last year, all without ever having met him or considering any substantial current evidence contra

to the opinion expressed by the ESRC chairperson in that committee's classification of Mr. Dudgeon over 8 years prior. CP 4, 6, 7, 74, 80, 81, RP 5, 6.

During this period, Dr. Mark Whitehill, a psychologist with decades of practiced and proven professional expertise, evaluated Mr. Dudgeon on repeated occasions and also evaluated Mrs. Dudgeon, the Dudgeon home environment, their relationship, plans for the future and other family relationships. Dr. Whitehill concluded that there were no treatment criteria needing attention and that Mr. Dudgeon should be considered to be a level I risk potential and if he were to be classified as a level I, which would facilitate his return home, his risk potential would be negligible under that home environment. CP 57, 58.

Mr. Dudgeon petitioned the lower court (CP 2, 3) to end the travesty of permitting the Sheriff's representative, Detective Dillard, from continuing the classification of Mr. Dudgeon as a level III risk in spite of the overwhelming substantial evidence Mr. Dudgeon presented supporting his being classified as a level I. CP 4, 9, 12, 23-55, 60-64. Detective Dillard had ample opportunity to review Mr. Dudgeon's proffered supporting evidence but refused to do so, instead choosing to classify Mr. Dudgeon at the highest possible risk to offend based on the stale and questionable information contained in the aforementioned ESRC

classification document, which was the stated sole criteria upon which Detective Dillard based his classification of Mr. Dudgeon. CP 4, 6, 7, 74, 80, 81, RP 5, 6.

The Superior Court had before it the lack of any substantial current evidence supporting Detective Dillard's arbitrary classification, and the overwhelming substantial current evidence supporting the classification of Mr. Dudgeon as a risk level I.

Appellant Dudgeon now comes before this Court seeking redress of the grievous harm being done to Mr. Dudgeon through the unjustified and arbitrary categorization of him as a risk level III with it's attendant egregious impact on his fundamental right to the pursuit of happiness and on the protection of life and property guaranteed by the 5th and 14th Amendments (CP 5, 6, 12, 13, 77-79), and of the lower court's unwarranted dismissal of Mr. Dudgeon's Petition For Writ of Certiorari addressing these issues. CP 90, 91.

D. Argument

1. THE RIGHT TO PETITION THE COURT TO CORRECT AN ERRONEOUS RISK LEVEL CLASSIFICATION IS A COGNIZABLE CLAIM UNDER WASHINGTON STATE STATUTORY AND ESTABLISHED CASE LAW.

RCW 7.16.040 authorizes a Writ of Review to "correct any erroneous or void proceeding" engaged in by "an inferior tribunal, board or officer exercising judicial functions." RCW 7.16.040.

"The assignment of a risk level classification to a sex offender under RCW 4.24.550 and RCW 72.09.345 is quasi-judicial function that is subject to judicial review by means of a writ of review under RCW 7.16.040.". *In re Det. Of Enright*, 131 WA.App. 706, 708 (2006).

"Because the act of classifying Mr. Enright as a level III offender resembles a court function, the ESRC and the law enforcement agency participated in a quasijudicial function that may be challenged by a writ of certiorari under RCW 7.16.040.". *Id* at 716.

Clearly Mr. Dudgeon has the well established right to petition the court to correct his risk level classification as being an erroneous determination by an inferior official. In this case, and in accordance with RCW 4.24.550, that final determination was made by the Kitsap County Sheriff's Department in the person of Sheriff's Detective Dillard, the Community Sex Offender Registration Officer.

That the risk level III classification at issue is erroneous is made manifestly obvious by the overwhelming substantial current evidence supporting Mr. Dudgeon's claim that he should be classified as a risk level I. CP 4, 9, 12, 23-55, 60-64. Mr. Dudgeon attempted to get Detective Dillard to review this evidence at the time of his initial meeting with him as well as on subsequent occasions. On each occasion Detective Dillard reused to do so stating that Mr. Dudgeon had

already been classified by the ESRC as a risk level III and that as far as he, Dillard, was concerned Mr. Dudgeon would remain so from that point on (CP 4, 6, 7, 74, 80, 81, RP 5, 6), thus closing the door to Mr. Dudgeon for any possible future review of his classification by that agency.

This made necessary the filing of Mr. Dudgeon's Petition For Writ of Certiorari as the only avenue available by which to seek relief from the arbitrary decision by the inferior agency. "It is, of course, subject to review by writ of certiorari which, issued out of the Superior Court under RCW 7.16.040, authorizes such a writ to review illegal acts or to correct an erroneous proceeding not according to the course of common law where there is no adequate remedy by appeal or otherwise.". *City of Everett v. Unsworth*, 54 Wash. 2d 760, 765, 344 P.2d 728 (1959).

That Detective Dillard refused to exercise any discerning discretion and review evidence pertinent to the risk level classification of Mr. Dudgeon other than the tainted, stale ESRC classification of Mr. Dudgeon, prior to assigning a risk level to him, and insisted on considering only that single source of stale information of questionable probative value, is evidence enough that Detective Dillard's decision was arbitrary and capricious. However, the Superior Court is empowered to grant relief even if the court were to find that a decision was not

arbitrary and capricious. As *Hayes* instructs, the court may find that a decisionmaker's action was so egregious as to be arbitrary and capricious but such a finding is not required for court to grant relief. *Hayes v. City of Seattle*, 131 Wash. 2d 706, 934 P.2d 1179 (1997).

"The Washington Supreme Court has held that 'a public agency must have some evidence of an offender's future dangerousness, likelihood of reoffense, or threat to the community, to justify disclosure to the public in a given case.' ". Russell v. Gregoire, 124 F.3d 1079, 1082 (9th CIR 1997). Risk level classification and disclosure to the public are controlled by RCW 72.09.345 and RCW 4.24.550. The assignment of risk level III to Mr. Dudgeon and the subsequent broadcast of the inflammatory and, in large part, false information to the public was based on a sole source, the stale and questionable information and opinions contained in the aforementioned ESRC classification, which in turn was based on a professionally discredited document, the WA SORL (CP 7, 8, 60-64) completed on Mr. Dudgeon over 8 years prior to meeting with Detective Dillard. All of the current assessments of "future dangerousness, likelihood of reoffense or threat to the community" regarding Mr. Dudgeon are addressed in the information Detective Dillard refused to consider.

Mr. Dudgeon has undergone 6 recent in-depth psychological evaluations by credentialed psychologists recognized as eminently qualified by the relevant scientific community, including the State's own expert, all of whom conclude that Mr. Dudgeon is a low, or very low, risk to offend. CP 3, 4, 23-64. The issues addressed in these evaluations are the very ones referred to in *Russell, supra*, and as indicated, these evaluations were all presented to the Superior Court, and all but one, Dr. Whitehill's, were available to Detective Dillard at the initial meeting with Mr. Dudgeon.

The very limited single source information upon which Mr. Dudgeon's risk level was based is neither current nor substantial, thus rendering that determination to be erroneous, justifying Mr. Dudgeon's Petition For Writ of Certiorari.

2. THE INFORMATION UPON WHICH MR. DUDGEON'S RISK LEVEL CLASSIFICATION WAS BASED WAS NEITHER CURRENT NOR SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The final determination authority for risk level classification of a sex offender released to the community is the local law enforcement agency. RCW 4.24.550. In the instant case it was the Respondent acting through the Community Sex Offender Registration Officer, Sheriff's Detective Dillard. The statute does not preclude local law enforcement from considering other pertinent information in making the risk level classification, rather, it mandates only that the classifying official <u>consider</u> the prior classification made by the ESRC. RCW 4.24.550.

As stated by Respondent in open court, "...the Sheriff's office relied on the ESRC classification, which is exactly statutorily what it is supposed to do." RP 9. Sheriff's Detective Dillard was statutorily required to merely <u>consider</u> the ESRC's input not necessarily to rely on it, RCW 4.24.550. However, he not only relied on it, Detective Dillard relied on it exclusively, refusing to consider any other evidentiary input.

This assignment of risk level classification under RCW 4.24.550 is a subjective process without any statutory standards or methodology to be used as guidelines. It is therefore essential that sufficient pertinent evidentiary guidelines be made available to the classifying official in order to enable him/her to make a fair, objective evaluation.

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