NO. 46032-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CECIL DUDGEON, Appellant,

v.

STEVE BOYER, SHERIFF OF KITSAP COUNTY Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

RUSSELL D. HAUGE Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney

> DEBORAH A. BOE WSBA No. 39365 CHRISTINE M. PALMER WSBA No. 42560 Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys 614 Division Street, MS-35A Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-4991

> > Attorneys for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The extent of a superior court's authority to grant a writ of certiorari is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *Federal Way School Dist. No. 210 v. Vinson*, 172 Wn.2d 756, 764-64, 261 P.3d 145 (2011).

B. <u>The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Mr. Dudgeon's Writ of</u> <u>Certiorari Because A Reviewing Court Lacks Authority to Make</u> <u>Factual Determinations Regarding A Sexual Offender's Risk</u> <u>Level Classification</u>

1. Reviewing Court Limited to Determination of Whether Lower Official's Acts Were Lawful and Substantiated By Evidence.

RCW 7.16.040 provides in part as follows:

A writ of review shall be granted by any court, except a municipal or district court, when an inferior tribunal, board or officer, exercising judicial functions, has exceeded the jurisdiction of such tribunal, board or officer, or one acting illegally, or to correct any erroneous or void proceeding [...].

RCW 7.16.120 outlines five questions involving the merits that a

reviewing court may determine when reviewing the decision of a lower

tribunal or officer. These questions are limited to (1) determining whether the lower body or officer had subject matter jurisdiction, (2) determining whether the body or officer pursued authority in according to its authority under law, (3) whether any rule of law has been violated, (4) whether there was competent proof of all the facts necessary to make the determination, (5) whether the factual determinations were supported by substantial evidence. RCW 7.16.120. Not listed among these questions is the authority to render factual determinations on the outcome of any matter. Id.

Washington case law is clear that review under RCW 7.16.040 is strictly limited to determining whether the decision below was contrary to

law and whether factual determinations are supported by substantial evidence. *City of Seattle, Seattle Police Dept. v. Werner*, 163 Wn. App. 899, 906, 261 P.3d 218 (2011); *Nichols v. Seattle Housing Authority*, 171 Wn. App. 897, 904, 288 P.3d 403 (2012)(holding that ultimately the reviewing court must determine whether the lower officer or tribunal acted arbitrarily, capriciously, or contrary to law).

If the reviewing court determines that the act or decision of the lower officer was lawful, the court will reinstate that decision. *Nichols* at 905, 908 (appellate court affirmed reviewing court's decision to reinstate order of lower officer upon finding that he acted with proper authority). If the reviewing court determines that an act or decision of the lower tribunal or officer was unlawful, it will invalidate or overturn that act or decision. *Hayes* at 713-14; *Punton'v. City of Seattle Public Safety Com'n*, 32 Wn. App. 959, 650 P.2d 1138 (1982)(decision which violated due process was overturned). Upon invalidating the decision, the court will remand the issue back to the lower tribunal for additional fact finding or may reinstate the decision of an even lower tribunal or court that considered the issue. *North/South Airpark Ass'n v. Haagen*, 87 Wn. App. 765, 770, 942 P.2d 1068 (1997); *Hayes v. City of Seattle*, 131 Wn.2d 706, 710, 934 P.2d 1179 (1997). If the reviewing court determines there is insufficient information to review the decision, the reviewing court must remand back to the lower tribunal or officer for additional fact finding. *Hayes* at 710.

However, the reviewing court does not have the authority to issue findings of fact or fashion its own remedy. *Andrew v. King County*, 21 Wn. App. 566, 575, 596 P.2d 509 (1978)(holding that superior court acting in reviewing capacity under RCW 7.16.040 exceeded its scope when it made its own determination as to whether a quarry was or was not a conforming use). A court conducting a review pursuant to statutory certiorari is not permitted to conduct a trial de novo of the facts determined by the inferior tribunal. *Id.* at 574; *City of Seattle, Seattle Police Dept. v. Werner*, 163 Wn. App. 899, 907, 261 P.3d 218 (2001). The reviewing court cannot "go further and determine from the testimony and evidence what the facts were." *Andrew at 574.* Similarly, it cannot substitute its own judgment or discretion for that of the lower tribunal or officer. *Werner* at 907 *citing Hilltop Terrace Homeowner's Ass'n v. Island County*, 126 Wn.2d 22, 34, 891 P.2d 29 (1995).

This fundamental principle has overwhelming support in Washington case law. *Werner*, 163 Wn. App. 899 (2011); *State ex. rel. Cosmopolic Consol. School District No. 99, Grays Harbor County v. Bruno*, 59 Wn.2d 366, 367 P.2d 995 (1962)(upon determining that commission's finding was erroneous, the superior court remanded to the commission); *North/South*

Airpark Ass'n v. Haagen, 87 Wn. App. 765, 770, 942 P.2d 1068 (1997)(holding that appellate jurisdiction under RCW 7.16.040 requires reviewing court to base its decision on the record made by the fact finder and may review the findings of fact only to see if they are supported by substantial evidence and if the findings of fact are not supported then the reviewing court should remand the issue back to the fact-finder); *State ex. rel. Lige & Wm. B. Dickson Co. v. County of Pierce*, 65 Wn. App. 614, 618-19, 829 P.2d 217 (1992)(a superior court reviewing a decision under RCW 7.16.040 has only appellate jurisdiction and is not permitted to make its own findings).

The case of *Andrew* involved the issue of whether a quarry was a valid conforming land use under a county zoning code. In certiorari proceedings, the superior court reversed a decision of the King County Board of Appeals and held that the quarry was not a legal nonconforming use. *Andrew* at 568-69. The court of appeals held that the superior court erred by substituting its own discretion for that of the Board of Appeals. *Id.* The court of appeals held that the superior court should have remanded the case back to the Board for further consideration because the Board alone was the proper finder of fact, not the reviewing court. *Id.* at 570.

There was a similar result in *Werner*. In this case, a city police department appealed to the superior court by writ of certiorari the decision of

a public safety civil service commission regarding the discipline of a police officer. *Werner* at 903. The superior court determined that the decision was erroneous and remanded back to the commission to make further determinations. *Id.* This determination was affirmed by the court of appeals which held that remand back to the commission was appropriate because an appellate court cannot substitute its own judgment for that of a fact finder. *Id.* at 907.

Mr. Dudgeon is asking that this Court compel the Kitsap County Sheriff's Office to modify his risk classification from a level III to a level I. This would require the Court to make a factual and discretionary determination that a level I risk classification is the most appropriate classification for Mr. Dudgeon. The Court simply does not have the authority to make this determination.

2. Mr. Dudgeon Misinterprets Reviewing Court's Authority to "Correct" Erroneous Proceedings.

Mr. Dudgeon appears to misconstrue the scope of RCW 7.16.040. He argues that because RCW 7.16.040 states that a reviewing court can "correct any erroneous or void proceeding," it has the power to render findings of fact and fashion its own remedy accordingly. In doing so, Mr. Dudgeon misconstrues this statute and asks that the court enter a ruling which is contrary to extensive case law holding just the opposite. A reviewing court's authority to correct an erroneous proceeding is clearly limited to determining that the proceeding is contrary to law, invalidating that proceeding, and then remanding it back to the lower tribunal or officer for a second consideration.

Statutes must be interpreted to ascertain and carry out the intent of the legislature. *State v. Alvarez*, 128 Wn.2d 1, 11, 904 P.2d 754 (1995). The legislative intent must be determined from the language of the statute. *Lacey Nursing Center v. Dep't of Revenue*, 128 Wn.2d 40, 53, 905 P.2d 338 (1995). Statutory construction requires that the statute be read and considered in its entirety, including the "entire sequence of all statutes relating to the same subject matter." *In re Donnelly's Estates*, 81 Wn.2d 430, 435, 502 P.2d 1163 (1972). Such statutes should be interpreted so as to harmonize and give meaning to all the language contained therein. *C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 708, 985 P.2d 262 (1999).

If RCW 7.16.040 were interpreted as Mr. Dudgeon claims, this would render RCW 7.16.120 void and meaningless because the reviewing court would no longer be limited to five questions on the merits enumerated in that statute. Instead, the reviewing court would be required to conduct a trial *de novo* as to all relevant facts, weigh issues of credibility, enter findings of fact, and fashion its own remedy. The

- 15 -

language of RCW 7.16.040 and RCW 7.16.120 could not be harmonized and would be in direct conflict. Moreover, the court dockets would be flooded with a deluge of cases brought by sex offenders seeking to challenge determinations made by local law enforcement agencies and the ESRC.

3. Allegations of Constitutional Violations Does Not Alter Scope of Review Under Chapter 7.16 RCW

a. There Is No Violation of Mr. Dudgeon's 14th Amendment Due Process Rights

Mr. Dudgeon's classification as a level III sex offender without a hearing does not violate any constitutional rights. His classification as a level III rather than a level I sex offender similarly does not violate any constitutional rights.

Due process rights are triggered where there is a deprivation of a liberty interest. *In re Detention of Enright*, 131 Wn. App. 706, 714, 128 P.3d 1266 (2006). A liberty interest may arise from the due process clause or from state laws. *Id.*. Washington courts have held that the due process clause does not create a liberty interest for sex offenders with regard to being placed on reduced restrictions, such as less restrictive detentions. *Enright* at 714. If sex offenders do not have a liberty interest in less restrictive detentions, it is unlikely that they would have such an interest in their risk level classification which merely dictates the level of public notification required.

Washington courts have also held that sex offense classification statutes do not create a liberty interest because they grant significant discretion to the decision maker. *Id.* at 715; *In re Meyer*, 142 Wn.2d 608, 618, 16 P.3d 563 (2001). Although local law enforcement agencies are directed by statute to classify sex offenders as a level III if they have a high risk of reoffending, the governing statute "vests" local law enforcement with "significant discretion in making this decision." *Enright* at 715; *Meyer* at 618. In addition, the statutes governing sex offender risk classifications are "procedural statutes for official decision making." *Id.* at 619. Such statutes do not create liberty interests. *Id.*

Because no liberty interest is implicated, due process rights are not triggered and sex offenders are not entitled to notice before a classification is made or information is disseminated under RCW 4.24.550. *Meyer* at 615. *Enright* at 715.

b. No Violation of Any Other Constitutional Rights

Mr. Dudgeon claims that his classification as a level III sex offender violates his 5th Amendment rights. Mr. Dudgeon has not explained how his classification violates this right. Similarly, Mr. Dudgeon has not explained nor provided any authority to suggest how his current classification violates any of his rights. There is insufficient support for such assertions.

Mr. Dudgeon claims that his classification as a level III sex offender prevents him from living with his wife at his home in Sequim, Washington because sex offenders have been the victims of unprovoked murders near his home. Mr. Dudgeon has not cited to the record to support any facts regarding the alleged murders. Furthermore, whether Mr. Dudgeon would become a victim of a crime based upon his sex offender status is highly speculative. Regardless, this does not give rise to a violation of a constitutional violation and Washington courts have rejected similar arguments.

Washington courts have held that when a sex offender is rejected from private housing due to his sex offense level, there is no deprivation of a liberty interest and thus no constitutional violation because the decision of a private housing provider does not constitute governmental action. *Enright* at 714. Rather, the classification had merely an "incidental effect" of making the offender less desirable to the private housing provider. *Id.*

Similarly, even if Mr. Dudgeon could establish that his life was in danger due to a history of unprovoked murders in his home town (which he has not done), he cannot establish that this speculative danger is due to

- 18 -

government action. Mr. Dudgeon has not shown how potential criminal conduct of individuals constitutes a government action. At best, his sex offense classification will have merely the "incidental effect" of increasing his changes of being a target of criminal activity. This is purely conjecture.

c. Violation of Constitutional Right Does Not Expand Scope of Review

Not only does Mr. Dudgeon fail to establish a violation of any constitutional right, he has failed to show how the existence of a constitutional violation will change the scope of a court's review in a certiorari proceeding. Mr. Dudgeon has offered no legal support or even any argument to suggest that a constitutional violation would authorize a reviewing court to make findings of fact, to exercise its own judgment, and modify his classification. Even in cases in which the reviewing court held there to be a constitutional violation, the reviewing court's scope of review remained the same under RCW 7.16.120. *See Punton v. City of Seattle Public Safety Com'n*, 32 Wn. App. 959, 970, 650 P.2d 1138 (1982)(in which the court invalidated the decision of a lower tribunal due to constitutional violation but did not enter its own findings of fact and engaged in same scope of review). Even in such instances, the reviewing court refrained rendered its own findings of fact. *Id.*

- 19 -

4. Reviewing Court Cannot Consider New Evidence Offered By Mr. Dudgeon

Mr. Dudgeon's claim that the superior court should have considered the evidence presented by him and reclassified him based upon that evidence must fail. Washington case law is clear that the reviewing court in a certiorari proceeding cannot consider new evidence and is limited strictly to the record before the lower tribunal or officer.

The quote from *Appeal of Black*, 47 Wn.2d 42, 297 P.2d 96 (1955) provided on page 22-23 of Mr. Dudgeon's Appellate Brief supports this very conclusion. The quote from *Black* as provided by Mr. Dudgeon can be summarized as stating that the findings of a superior court in certiorari proceeding, where the findings of the lower tribunal are before the court, are not binding on an appellate court. See pages 22-23 of Mr. Dudgeon's brief. This quote is, in fact, not an actual quote from the published decision but is actually taken from a headnote. *Id.* at Headnote 3.

This statement offered by Mr. Dudgeon suggests that any findings of fact made by a superior court in reviewing a lower tribunal decision are superfluous. This is supported by the actual decision of the *Black* court which holds that "the court [in a certiorari proceeding is] limited by statute to the consideration of questions of law," *Id.* at 45, and "no evidence was

taken before the judge of the superior court, who was confined to a review

of the record." Id. at 44.

Furthermore, Washington case law is clear that in a certiorari

proceeding, the reviewing court cannot consider new evidence.

Pursuant to <u>RCW 7.16.060</u>, the superior court reviews only the administrative record below and takes no new evidence. Therefore, the trial court need enter no findings of fact or conclusions of law. <u>King Cy. Water Dist. 54 v. King Cy. Boundary Review Bd.</u>, 87 Wash.2d 536, 544, 554 P.2d 1060 (1976). Although the trial court did enter findings and conclusions herein, this does not in itself constitute grounds for reversal but is mere surplusage. See <u>Spokane Cy. Fire Protec. Dist. 8</u> v. Spokane Cy. Boundary Review Bd., 27 Wash.App. 491, 493, 618 P.2d 1326 (1980).

Grader v. City of Lynwood, 45 Wn. App. 876, 879, 728 P.2d 1057 (1986).

Mr. Dudgeon admits that he presented before the superior court a long list of scientific evaluations, professional opinions, and records of behavior to support his classification as a level I. He also alleges that the Kitsap County Sheriff's Office declined to consider this information and only considered the assessment provided by ESGR. Because the Kitsap County Sheriff's Office did not consider this new evidence presented to the superior court, it would be improper for the superior court to consider such evidence in the certiorari proceedings.

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